RECEIVED

Jan 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-001281

Dorothy Riley individually, and as
Personal Representative of the
Estate of Marion F. Riley

Respondent,

v.

Marcus Riley

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

/s/ Ittriss J. Jenkins
Ittriss J. Jenkins
652 Rutledge Ave. Ste. A
Charleston SC 29403
(843) 203-0193
Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the facts of this case wholly support the granting of a new trial?

FACTS

Marcus Riley is the Grandson of Marion F. Riley Sr. He is also the son of Marion F. Riley Jr. Marcus had a great relationship with his father and grandfather growing up in Allendale County. (See Transcript of Record Page 6 lines 17-25, Page 7. lines 1-25)

Marcus Riley admitted that he came home inconsistently while he pursued an education. His educational pursuits led him to different states (See Transcript of Record Page 4, lines nine 23and 24, Page 6, lines 9-13)

Marcus's father died in 2019. He went home to Allendale County to attend the funeral. At that time he had no reason to know that he property that was in his father's estate was obtained illegally.

Marcus's interest regarding his father's estate began when his sister Tracy called him after the funeral to complain about a house she was living in. She complained that the property that was supposed to be in the Estate. (See Transcript of Record Page10 line 7) Marcus talked with his father's widow, Dorothy Riley about the situation and was told, "I don't know." (See Transcript of Record Page 10. Line 19). Marcus decided to go to the Allendale County Courthouse to research the problem. He discovered that his father fraudulently signed a power of attorney over Marcus's grandfather and transferred some properties to himself. Marcus discovered that the house that was willed to his sister Tracy was deeded to his other sister

Renique using that power of attorney. He suspected that the signature on the power of attorney could be false. Marcus started comparing signatures on the document and discovered some discrepancies. When he later brought this evidence to the attention of his father's widow, she responded "if you want to go to Court, we can." (See Transcript of Record Page 13, line 17.

Mr. Riley testified in Court that his grandfather's will was dated January 12th, 1990. A distribution list bequeathed the property to his grandmother, Ruth Riley, and the remainder to his children to share equally. (See Transcript of Record Page 16, lines 8-25. See Transcript of Record Page 17 line1-9.

There was also the introduction of the 1995 Power of Attorney that Marion F. Riley Sr allegedly produced. The date of that Power of Attorney was May 18th, 1995. Marcus found that date interesting because his grandfather had been in the hospital two weeks earlier. (See Transcript of Record Page 21line 1-6, See Transcript of Record Page 22 lines 1-25)

Evidence also showed that the 1995 Power of Attorney was revoked on May 28th, 1998. (See Transcript of Record Page 23, lines 17-23)

Another Power of Attorney was done five months later, on October 15th, 1998, which was presented as evidence. See Transcript of Record Page 24, lines 15-22) Marcus questioned the timing of the second power of attorney. Shortly after receiving the second power of attorney, Marcus's father transferred the specific property to himself. (See Transcript of Record Page 28. Line 22-25)

Prior to his discovery Marcus had no reason to research the transferring of any property his father claimed to own, nor was he involved in any prior litigation.

Janice Heard is Marcus's aunt. She testified that her father was having health problems with Dementia and Alzheimer's. (See Transcript of Record Page 49, line 23). She also testified that Marcus was unaware of the lawsuit in her father's Estate. (See Transcript of Record Page 53 line 25, Page 54, line 1,6)

The Plaintiff called expert Laurie Hoeltzel PhD to the stand. She is a forensic examiner. Dr. Hoeltzel testified that she had 25 years of experience as a forensic examiner. (See Transcript of Record Page 61, line 22) Opposing Counsel had no objection to her being qualified as an expert (See Transcript of Record Page 65 line 16-18). Dr. Hoeltzel stated there was a discrepancy in the signature on the 1998 Power of attorney and Marcus's grandfather's real signature. She presented slides that were introduced into evidence along with a report. She stated that, in her professional opinion, Mr. Marion F. Riley did not sign the documents she reviewed. (See Transcript of Record Page 84 lines 17-20)

Attorney Clyde Elzroth Jr. testified for the defense. He testified that he was the attorney for Marion F. Riley Sr. and remembered doing the Power of Attorney for Marion F Riley Sr. and filing it on October 24th, 1995. (See Transcript of Record Page 20, lines 6-9). He later testified that Mr. Marion Riley Sr. came to his office wanting to revoke the Power of Attorney, and although he had never done one before, he got it done. (See Transcript of Record Page 23, lines 5-16). He later admitted that he was in Florida when the 1998 Power of Attorney was done and completed. (See Transcript of Record Page 24, lines 6-14). After that, he could no longer testify that he had any knowledge that the Power of Attorney done in 1998 was a valid document.

Attorney Elzroth was allowed to review his notes and stated with substantial certainty that he was not present when the 1998 Power of Attorney was signed. (See Transcript of Record

Page 28, lines 17-25 and Page 29, lines 1-4). He could not even verify who did the Power of Attorney. (See Transcript of Record Page 29, line 25, Page 30, line 1)

The next witness was June Bilka. She was one of the paralegals who claimed to have witnessed the signatures on the Power of Attorney. She gave testimony that she did not know who prepared the documents. She claimed that only the people in the room were present when Marion F Riley Sr. signed the documents. Still, she could not identify the other person who eligibly witnessed the document. She provided no evidence of being or explanation as to why she had such a good memory of the client from over 20 years ago, but not the go-worker was in working with her. She later admitted that she did not remember specific details because of the time-lapse. (See Transcript of Record Page 37, lines 5-9).

She later testified that the document sign process appeared to be outside of the firm's procedures because it looked like a paralegal named Janet Palazzolo notarized the document rather than one of the attorneys. (See Transcript of Record Page 38, lines 24-25, and Page 39 1-6) No other witness could state they were in the room when the Power of Attorney was signed.

The other witnesses presented by the Defense offered no evidence regarding the signing of the power of attorney. The offered disparaging, unsubstantiated testimony of Marcus's character.

The evidence in this case was clear and grossly one-sided. The wholly of the evidence was presented by the Plaintiff. There was no evidence from the defense for the Trial Court to consider. That is why the jury returned within the hour with a verdict for the Plaintiff.

According to the case *Lester W. Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Company*, Opinion No. 25501 Heard April 16th, 2002 – Filed July 22nd, 2002.

Upon review, a trial judge's order granting or denying a new trial will be upheld unless the order is "wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law." *Folkens*, 300 S.C. at 254-55, 387 S.E.2d at 267 (citing *South Carolina State Highway Dep't v. Clarkson*, 267 S.C. 121, 226 S.E.2d 696 (1976)). This Court's "review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order." *Id.* At 255, 387 S.E.2d at 267. As long as there is conflicting evidence, this Court has held that the trial judge's grant of a new trial will not be disturbed. *Id.*

The granting of a new trial based on the thirteenth jury doctrine is wholly un'supported"by evidence. In the case, the Defendant does not have one person who could definitively place Mr. Marion F. Riley Sr.'s signature on the 1998 power of attorney. Attorney Elzroth admitted that he was in Florida, and June Bilka was not sure what was signed and who authorized the signing of that document. Both witnesses worked in the same law firm but differed as to the policy for a client signing a document. She did not review whatever was signed, nor did Mr. Riley's regular attorney prepare the document. The defense called Dorothy Riley and her children Renique and Chauncey and none of them could testify that they knew for a fact that the document was signed by Marion F. Riley Sr.

Standing

Marcus Riley is an heir to his father's estate because he is the son of Marcus F. Riley Jr. Not being mentioned in the will has no relevance to whether he is an heir.

According to SC Code Section 62-1-20, Heirs” means those persons, including the surviving spouse, who are entitled under the statute of intestate succession to the property of a decedent—SC Code Section 62-2-104. (1) 2a states that an heir under the succession statute is an individual born before a decedent’s death but who fails to survive the decedent by one hundred twenty hours is deemed to have predeceased the decedent. We do not argue that he is a disinherited heir, but that does not affect his status as an heir.

The Appellant was not trying to reopen the Estate of his Grandfather. He was attempting to challenge the property in his father’s Estate. As an heir to his father’s Estate, he has the right to challenge the property in his Estate. The allegations were that his father committed fraud and obtained property from his grandfather. During the trial, he explained that his grandfather was everything to him (See Transcript of Record Page 8 line 3-4).

CONCLUSION

The defense never produced anyone with a working log that placed Mr. Riley Sr. in the office that day. Nor did they have an expert agreeing that Mr. Riley Sr. signed the document.

The rest of the witnesses failed to tarnish Marcus' character. The Plaintiff produced evidence of multiple Power of Attorney, an expert witness that stated that the signature was not Mr. Riley Sr. and numerous other exhibits. We strongly believe that the granting of the New Trial Absolute based on the theory of thirteenth jury is wholly unsupported by the evidence.

RECEIVED

Jan 11 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2023-001281

MARCUS RILEY

Appellant,

v.

Dorothy Riley, individually and Dorothy Riley in her role as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Marion F. Riley Jr. Respondent.