RECEIVED

Oct 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Case Number: 2023-001281

Marcus Riley, Appellant,

v.

Dorothy Riley, individually and Dorothy Riley in her role as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Marion F. Riley, Jr..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NESS & JETT, LLC

/s/ R. Aaron Ness

R. Aaron Ness, S.C. Bar #102331

Alison Dennis Hood, S.C. Bar #77128

P.O. Box 909

Bamberg, SC 29003

(Tel) 803-245-5178

(Fax) 803-245-5384

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

October 22, 2024
Bamberg, South Carolina

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

ARGUMENT

I. Is there some evidence to support the order of the trial judge granting a new trial, pursuant to Rule 59?

Appellant’s Amended Complaint contains two causes of action, for fraud, allegedly committed by Sonny, deceased, and for the cancellation of the October 1998 Power of Attorney of Grandfather, also deceased. At the trial of this matter, Appellant testified he had been living out of state and was uninvolved in Grandfather or Sonny’s affairs in 1998 and 1999, at the time of the alleged fraud. Appellant asserted that he suspected that Sonny had somehow fabricated

Grandfather's Will. R. p 45, line 15—p. 47, line 7. Appellant further testified that he suspected that Sonny had either fabricated a Power of Attorney or manipulated Grandfather into executing a Power of Attorney document in October, 1998, when Grandfather lacked capacity. R. p. 47, line 19—p. 48, line 23. Appellant testified that he suspected Grandfather may have had a medical problem that limited his ability to understand. R. p. 49, line 19—p. 50, line 2. Appellant also testified that he was entirely removed from the family during this time period: Q: "At any time, were you aware that there was this change in documents or there was a revocation and another one that was brought about?" A: "I was living in Oklahoma City at the time working on the Air Force base. I had no idea this stuff was going on. I had no clue." R. p. 50, line 3—line 8; R. p. 51, line 2—line 8.²

Grandfather's daughter, Janice Heard, testified at the trial as well. She testified that she had attempted to invalidate the October 1998 Power of Attorney during the administration of Grandfather's Estate, because she, "found out that everything was with my brother." R. p. 52, line 15. She testified that Grandfather needed a pacemaker late in his life and was diagnosed with prostate cancer that led to his death. R. p. 54, line 9—p. 55, line 2. Ms. Heard testified that, in her opinion, the signature on 1995 will was not Grandfather's signature. R. p. 62, line 17—22.

At trial, Laurie Anne Hoeltzel was qualified as a forensic handwriting expert. Hoeltzel testified that she noted differences between a sample of "known" signatures provided to her by

² The Power of Attorney was recorded on October 15, 1998. The deed was recorded on February 26, 1999. Appellant was on constructive notice of the existence and use no later than February 26, 1999. *See Berry v. McLeod*, 328 S.C. 435 (Ct. App. 1997) (Statute of limitations began to run when documents were publicly filed.); *see also Fuller-Ahren v. South Carolina Dept. of Highways and Public Transportation*, 311 S.C. 177 (Ct. App. 1993) (An individual on inquiry or constructive notice is held to be on notice of the contents of documents filed in conformity with applicable statutory law, which an inquiry would have revealed.). Appellant claims that he is entitled to a much later "discovery" of the alleged fraud, but Appellant cites no precedent that permits each individual child, grandchild, or great-grandchild of Grandfather their own discrete statute of limitation based on their "discovery" of public information.

Appellant and the October 1998 Power of Attorney. R. pp. 63, line 26—p. 81, line 20; R. p. 82, line 11—line 13. Her conclusion was that Grandfather did not sign all of the documents that she reviewed: Q: “Miss Hoeltzel, in your professional opinion, Mr. F. Riley, Sr. sign all of the documents that you reviewed?” A: “No.” R. p. 81, line 17-20. Her report did not provide copies of the “known” samples that were provided to her by the Appellant. Neither did she offer her opinions to a reasonable degree of certainty as an expert in the field of forensic handwriting. R. pp. 175—177. Her report includes the conclusion that it was only “probable” that the will and power of attorney did not match the “known” samples, none of which were authenticated, and all of which were handpicked and submitted to the expert by Appellant.

At the trial, Respondent called Lynn Mannuel, who testified that she witnessed the signatures on the contested will, which she recalled Grandfather signing at the law offices of Attorney Eltzroth, where she worked. R. p. 101, line 19—p. 103, line 22.

Attorney Clyde Eltzroth, Jr. also testified at trial. R. p. 116, line 21—p. 126, line 12. He recalled drafting the subject documents for Grandfather, whom he specifically recalled. He also referred to his diary, where he discovered appointments with Grandfather that corresponded to the documents prepared. He also recalled notarizing the May 22, 1995 Will.

June Bilka testified that she had witnessed the will and notarized the October 15, 1998 Power of Attorney. R. p. 127, line 5—p. 129, line 18. Bilka also testified that she knew Sonny, and he was not present at the time of the execution of the documents, in accordance with the policy of the law office. R. p. 129, line 14—line 18. She also named the additional witness on the Power of Attorney as Janet Palazzolo, who was another employee of the law office. R. p. 128, line 11—line 17.

In his closing statement, Appellant argued that the May 22, 1995 Will and the October 15, 1998 Power of Attorney should both be invalidated. R. p. 133, line 2—p. 134, line 15. Appellant asserted that his objective was to “make it right,” by voiding the will and power of attorney. R. p. 134, line 7; R. p. 136, line 5-6. However, there was scant evidence of any “wrong” having been committed, only a general sense of disapproval at the decisions of Grandfather, made well over twenty years ago.³

Appellant did not introduce into evidence a single medical record of any actual health issues of Grandfather in 1995 or 1998 that would render him incapable of executing either a will or a Power of Attorney. There is no credible diagnosis in the record to substantiate or support a claim of mental incapacity.

Appellant did not put forth any evidence that June Bilka, Attorney Clyde Eltzroth, Jr., or Lynn Manuel were involved or complicit in the alleged fraud. There is, rather, compelling evidence that the documents were signed in a routine fashion, by Grandfather, in the lawyer’s office, before neutral witnesses and a notary, none of whom were alleged to have benefitted from the execution of the documents. Nor did any of these witnesses recall that Grandfather was acting under any compulsion or under any duress.

Appellant did not present any evidence that Grandfather objected to the deed in question, which was recorded on February 26, 1999, during his life. (Grandfather died on May 10, 1999.) Nor did Appellant present any specific evidence that the May 22, 1995 will was inconsistent with the wishes of Grandfather.

³ Appellant concedes that he is not an heir of Grandfather. Under §62-1-201(20), S. C. Code of Laws, an “heir” is defined as a person who is entitled under the statute of intestate succession to the property of a decedent. Under §62-2-103(1), S. C. Code of Laws, Appellant is not an heir of Grandfather, because Sonny survived Grandfather. This is a reason that Appellant has no standing to bring this claim.

Appellant further did not present any documentation to demonstrate what “known” samples of writing, alleged to be Grandfather’s, were submitted to the expert by Appellant for evaluation, nor when those “known” samples were alleged to have been created. Further, the expert did not offer her opinions to a reasonable degree of certainty of a forensic handwriting expert.

These facts are sufficient to support the decision of the trial judge to grant a new trial, absolute, under the thirteenth juror doctrine.

II. Did the trial judge err in exercising his discretion as the ‘thirteenth juror’ in granting Respondent a new trial, absolute?

The trial judge did not err in relying on his discretion to grant a new trial, in light of the factual evidence presented in this case.

Regarding the will, the judge was well within his discretion in relying upon the testimony of the witnesses and notary regarding the execution of the will. A self-proved will incorporates an affidavit signed by the testator, the witnesses, and a notary into the will, declaring due execution of the will, testator’s capacity, and that there was no undue influence upon the testator. *See S. C. Code Ann.* §62-2-503 (Supp. 2020). “A self-proved will does not require the production of evidence as to the due execution of the will.” *Smith v. Lawton*, 435 S.C. 179, 188, 865 S.E.2d 782, 786 (Ct. App. 2021). In this case, the will was self-proving. Respondent was also able to produce credible testimony from the witnesses and the notary to the challenged will. Each witness and the notary confirmed their recognition of their signatures on the document, which was a certified true copy of the will of Grandfather. R. pp. 141—145.

Similarly, Respondent presented credible evidence from June Bilka that the Power of Attorney was signed at the office of Attorney Eltzroth, before witnesses and a notary. The trial

judge did not abuse his discretion in giving weight to the evidence that the documents were not irregular in nature, as there was evidence that they were executed by Grandfather, at his request, before the appropriate witnesses and notary. The record, therefore, contains facts upon which to support the granting of a new trial. *See Norton v. Norfolk S. Ry. Co.*, 350 S.C. 473, 479, 567 S.E.2d 851, 854 (2002); *Dent v. Redd*, 270 S.C. 585, 243 S.E.2d 460 (1978); *South Carolina Dept. of Highways and Public Transp. v. Mooneyham*, 275 S.C. 205, 269 S.E.2d 329 (1980). As a matter of law, the trial judge further did not abuse his discretion in granting a new trial.

The Complaint in this action states two causes of action: 1. Fraud by Sonny and 2. Lack of Capacity of Grandfather to execute the Will or Power of Attorney. “In order to prove fraud, the following elements must be shown: (1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its truth or falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer’s ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer’s reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer’s right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer’s consequent proximate injury. *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 672, 582 S.E.2d 432, 444-45 (Ct. App. 2003).

At the trial of this matter, the parties agreed to dismiss Dorothy Riley, individually, from the action. R. p. 130, line 14—line 19. The only other named Defendant in this action is the Estate of Sonny. Yet, at trial, the evidence presented did not speak to any action, statements, or representations by Sonny regarding the creation or execution of the contested power of attorney or the contested will. There is simply no credible evidence of any fraud by Sonny against Appellant, who is not a beneficiary of the Estate of Grandfather. Further, there was no evidence that the conveyance to Sonny violated the wishes or instructions of Grandfather. The trial judge does not err in granting a new trial, where there is little or no persuasive evidence in the record to support the verdict. R. p. 38.

Regarding the creation of the Power of Attorney, “in order for the principal to create the agency relationship in the first instance the principal must have the mental capacity to contract.” *In re Thames*, 344 S.C. 564, 570, 544 S.E.2d 854, 856-857 (Ct. App. 2001), citing 3 Am.Jur.2d. *Agency* §12. “South Carolina has defined *contractual capacity* as a person’s ability to understand, at the time the contract is executed, the nature of the contract and its effect.” *In re: Nightingale’s Estate*, 182 S.C. 527, 542, 189 S.E.2d 890, 896 (1937)(emphasis added). “Where a transaction is challenged on the ground of mental incompetency, the individual’s competency on the date of that transaction must be determined.” *Grapner v. Atlantic Land Title Co.*, 307 S.C. 549, 551, 416 S.E.2d 617, 618 (1992). The party alleging incompetence bears the burden of proving incapacity at the time of the transaction by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.*

In this case, Appellant presented no medical evidence at all. Appellant and his aunt, Janice Heard, presented some vague evidence, based on their own personally recollections, that Grandfather was generally unwell in the months preceding his death. However, Appellant contradicted his own evidence when he repeatedly testified that he was living out-of-state and was uninvolved in Grandfather’s life at the time of the execution of the Power of Attorney. R. p. 50, line 3—line 9; R. p. 52, line 17—p. 53, line 15. Heard was unable to cite any specific diagnosis, treatment, or medication that would have impaired Grandfather’s ability to contract. R. p. 54, line 7—p. 55, line 2; p. 53, line 11—17. Respondent presented evidence from Grandfather’s attorney that the documents were not irregular, and Grandfather came into the office to sign both the Will and Power of Attorney of his own volition and under his own strength. The trial judge did not err in giving greater weight to the evidence of Grandfather’s attorney and discounting the self-serving and vague evidence of the Appellant and Janice Heard, which was wholly unsupported by any medical evidence.

The appellant “bears the heavy burden of demonstrating to the court that it clearly appeared that the judge’s exercise of discretion was controlled by a manifest error of law.” *Todd*, 315 S.C. at 36, 431 S.E.2d at 598 (Ct. App. 1993). In this case, Appellant has not highlighted any manifest errors of law in the record.⁴ Nor can Appellant demonstrate any abuse of discretion by the trial judge in exercising his authority as the thirteenth juror. To disturb the decision of the lower court, it must clearly appear that the trial judge abused his discretion. *Campbell v. Hall*, 210 S.Ct. 423, 43 S.E.2d 129 (1947). The Order of the trial court granting a new trial absolute should not be disturbed in this case, as the decision of the trial judge is supported by the evidence and the conclusion reached was not controlled by any error of law. *See Trivelas v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 357 S.C. 545, 593 S.E.2d 504 (Ct. App. 2004). *See also, Clarkson*, 267 S.C. at 126—127, 226 S.E.2d at 697.

If there is any error of law in this case, it is that this case should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Appellant has no standing to bring this claim. “A plaintiff must have standing to institute an action.” *Mulherin-Howell v. Cobb*, 362 S.C. 588, 597, 608 S.E.2d 587, 592 (Ct. App. 2005). To have standing, one must have a personal stake in the subject matter of the

⁴ Respondent raised several applicable affirmative defenses that would also prevent Appellant from receiving the requested relief. Appellant lacks standing to bring this case. In order to have standing to present a case, a party must have a personal stake in the subject matter of the lawsuit. *Furman University v. Livingston*, 244 S.C. 200, 136 S.E.2d 254 (1964); *see also, Pres. Soc’y of Charleston v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 430 S.C. 200, 209-210, 845 S.E.2d 481, 485—486 (2020). Appellant has no interest in the subject property and no interest in the Estate of Grandfather. Neither does Appellant have the right to assert a fraud claim against Sonny. *See Fisher ex. Rel. Shaw v. Huckabee*, 422 S.C. 234, 811 S.E.2d 739 (2018), *affirmed as modified by Fisher on behalf of the Estate of Alice Shaw-Barker v. Huckabee*, 422 S.C. 234, 811 S.E.2d 739 (2018). That action belongs to Grandfather’s Estate. Those matters were litigated in Case Number: 99ES03000042, where Virginia Priester and Janice Riley sought the same relief as Appellant. That case was dismissed, with prejudice on October 25, 2002. There was no appeal from that Order. “A litigant is barred from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit.” *Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway*, 334 S.C. 30, 512 S.E.2d 106 (1999). The action to set aside a 1999 deed and 1999 Power of Attorney are time barred by S. C. Code Ann §15-3-40, which is ten years for the recovery of property, and 15-67-210. An action to set aside a will must be timely filed in Probate Court, pursuant to §62-3-803(a)(1) and (2), S. C. Code of Laws, a maximum of one year after the date of death. This claim was not filed until two years after Sonny died. These affirmative defenses present numerous applicable defenses which do not support the case even being submitted to a jury, much less the jury verdict in this action.

lawsuit: “One must be a real party in interest.” *Ibid.* “A real party in interest is one who has a real, material, or substantial interest in the subject matter of the action, as opposed to one who has only a nominal or technical interest in the action. *Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. Charleston County Election Comm’n*, 336 S.C. 174, 181, 519 S.E.2d 567, 571 (1999); *see also Huff v. Jennings*, 319 S.C. 142, 148, 459 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct. App. 1995)(“A real party in interest is one who has a real, actual, material, or substantial interest in the subject matter of the action, as distinguished from one who has only a nominal, formal, or technical interest in, or connection with, the action.”) In this case, Appellant repeatedly testified that he was not an heir of Grandfather, never owned even an expectancy interest in the subject real property and was motivated solely by his desire to right some perceived wrong from decades ago. Appellant has no interest in the real property conveyed by the February 26, 1999 deed. The jury verdict in this case did not benefit Appellant in any way. Rather, Appellant in this action is acting a proxy for his aunts, the actual heirs of Grandfather, who are foreclosed from bringing this action, as the issue is precluded by a prior Order of the Probate Court. R. pp. 3—4. *See Taylor v. Sturgell*, 553 U.S. 880, 895, 128 S.Ct. 2161, 2173 (2008)(“[A] party bound by a judgment may not avoid its preclusive force by relitigating through a proxy.”). R. pp. 178—182.

CONCLUSION

The trial judge, in its discretion as the thirteenth juror, granted a new trial, in accordance with Rule 59, SCRCF, based on the compelling factual and legal issues presented at the trial of this matter. Appellant has not carried his burden and cannot demonstrate that the trial judge abused his discretion in granting a new trial absolute. The appeal should be dismissed, and the case remanded to the lower court for a new trial.

October 22, 2024
Bamberg, South Carolina

NESS & JETT, LLC